IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

v.

.

NO: 24-88

SCA EFiled: May 20 2024

Transaction ID 73107239

01:37PM EDT

RODERICK LEVI HOWARD,

Defendant Below, Petitioner

LEGAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR APPEAL

A Courtenay Craig (#8530) CRAIG LAW OFFICE 635 7th Street Huntington, WV 25701 (304) 697-4422--Telephone (304) 905-5862--Facsimile

May 20, 2024

JURISDICTION
STANDARD OF REVIEW4
PROCEDURAL HISTORY5
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS6
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS9
·
POINT ONE: THE LOWER COURT CLEARLY ERRED FACTUALLY WHEN IT RULED

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

U.S CONSTITUTION

Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution

Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution

WEST VIRGINIA CASES

State v. Jones, 193 W.Va. 378. 456 S.E.2d 459 (1995)

State v Lacy, 196 W.Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996)

State v. Stanley, 168 W. Va. 294, 284 S.E.2d 367 (1981)

State v. Vance, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000)

U.S. SUPREME COURT

Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U. S. 321 (1987)

Michigan v. Long, 463 U. S. 1032 (1983)

Minnesota v Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366 (1993)

Sibron v. New York, 392 U. S. 40 (1968)

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)

Whren v U.S., 517 U.S. 506, (1996)

JURISDICTION

West Virginia Code §58-5-1. When appeal lies.

A party to a civil action may appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court or from an order of any circuit court constituting a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all claims or parties upon an express determination by the circuit court that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment as to such claims or parties. The defendant in a criminal action may appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court in which there has been a conviction or which affirms a conviction obtained in an inferior court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a ruling on a Motion to Suppress, an appellate court should construe all facts in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing party below. Because of the highly facts-specific nature of the Motion to Suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the Circuit Court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear the testimony on the issues. Therefore, the Circuit Courts factual findings are reviewed for clear error." Syllabus Point 1, State v Lacy, 196 W.Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996). Questions of law, in a suppression issue, are reviewed de novo. Syllabus Point 3, State v, Vance, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Roderick Howard was arrested on July 27, 2021. (See Criminal Complaint, Appendix, Pg. 1-5) His preliminary Hearing was held August 10, 2021 (See Preliminary Hearing Transcript, Appendix Pg. 231)

Mr. Howard's case was presented to the grand jury for the first time on March 15, 2022. (See First Grand Jury Transcript Appendix, Pg 65-75) The grand jury returned a twocount indictment for violations of West Virginia Code 60A-4-415(b), possession of the controlled substance fentanyl, and West Virginia Code 61-7-7, prohibited person in possession of a firearm. (See Indictment, Appendix, Pg. 77-78)

A suppression hearing was held in this matter on September 22, 2022. (See Suppression Transcript, Appendix, Pg. 117-189) On that date, subsequent to the suppression hearing, the State dismissed both counts of the indictment, without prejudice, because 60A-4-415(b) was found unconstitutional prior to the hearing and the officer admitted failing to give Miranda Warnings to Mr. Howard prior to questioning him about the contents of the car where the firearm was found. (See Order Dismissing Indictment, Appendix, Pg. 89-90)

Mr. Howard's case was presented to the grand jury for the second time on November 14, 2022. (See Second Grand Jury Transcript, Appendix, Pg. 91-100). The jury returned a one-count indictment for possession with intent to deliver fentanyl in violation of West Virginia Code 60A-4-401. (See Second Indictment, Appendix, Pg. 101-102).

An order supplementing the record was granted on March 3, 2023 where by defense counsel supplemented the record with 911 documents and CDs. (See Order, Appendix, Pg.

199-200) A proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law was submitted by defense counsel on March 13, 2023. (See Proposed Findings, Appendix, Pg. 191-196). The Court ultimately denied the motion to suppress by order on July 7, 2023. (See Order Denying Suppression Motion, Appendix, Pg. 202-207)

Mr. Howard plead "no contest" to one count of attempt to commit a felony, a lesser included offense to the count in the indictment, on December 6, 2023. (See Plea, Appendix, Pg. 215) He was ultimately sentenced on February 2, 2024 to a 1 to 3-year sentence. (See Sentencing Order, Appendix Pg. 226-229)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Roderick Howard was arrested on July 27, 2021, after a traffic stop and subsequent search. The contraband used as the basis for Mr. Howard's conviction was discovered through a custodial interrogation of Mr. Howard without benefit of Miranda Warnings and an improper pat down.

The traffic stop of Mr. Howard occurred on July 27, 2021 (See Criminal Complaint, Appendix, Pg. 1-6), suppression transcript (Appendix, Pg 120), first grand jury transcript (Appendix, Pg. 68), second grand jury transcript (Appendix, Pg. 94) and preliminary hearing (Appendix, Pg.) The stop occurred at 18:51:06 (Appendix, Pg. 6). The traffic stop was initiated because Mr. Howard committed various traffic violations including improper lane change (Appendix, Pg. 1-6).

Officer Oiler pulled in behind Mr. Howard and initiated a traffic stop (Appendix, Pg 123). Officer Oiler testified he noticed Mr. Howard was on the phone with the phone being on Bluetooth (<u>Id</u>). The call was to Dominque Lassiter and her phone records show that call lasting 30 minutes before it was terminated. (See phone record submitted by Defendant, Appendix, Pg. 258-259)

Officer Oiler gave various reasons for arresting Mr. Howard. In the criminal complaint, the Officer stated he found out that Mr. Howard's license was suspended and then pulled him out of the car, and then he was observed standing funny, at which time officers patted him down. (Appendix 1-6). Officer Oiler testified at the preliminary hearing he pulled Mr. Howard out of the car, because he was acting nervous and, to write him a warning ticket (Appendix, Pg. 235). While writing the warning ticket, his partner observed Mr. Howard standing in a suspicious manner (Appendix, Pg. 235-236). At the first grand jury hearing, Officer Oiler testified Mr. Howard's license was suspended and he had an active warrant, and that is why he was arrested (Appendix, Pg. 70). At the suppression hearing Officer Oiler testified Mr. Howard's license was suspended and he had an active warrant, and that is why he was arrested (Appendix, Pg. 124).

Mr. Howard gave Officer Oiler a valid West Virginia driver's license. (Appendix, Pg. 70, 95, 123) Records from dispatch CAD sheets, at 18:53:51, show Mr. Howard had no West Virginia license suspension as testified by the officer (Appendix, Pg. 15). In fact, it showed Mr. Howard had a West Virginia valid driver's license with "no convictions in the last two years or any DUI convictions" and "no active suspensions/revocations and DUI suspensions. (<u>Id</u>.)

Officer Oiler stated it was his intent to write Mr. Howard a warning ticket (Pg. 95 and 136). At 18:59:15 Officer Oiler ran another inquiry on the rental vehicle's registration, after he had already received notice of the Wyoming County warrant. (Appendix, Pg. 17 and 157). At 19:16:04 Officer Oiler had Putnam Co. Dispatch run Mr. Howard's Virginia license number and

found Mr. Howard was not licensed and had restrictions in Virginia. (Appendix, Pg. 19), 911 CD Clip 10) However, that does not change the fact his West Virginia license was valid.

Officer Baumgardner arrived on scene approximately 6 minutes after the stop was initiated at approximately 18:57:26 (Appendix, Pg. 6). Officer Oiler testified Officer Wilson arrived a few minutes after Officer Baumgardner (Appendix, Pg. 147). Mr. Howard was officially marked under arrest at 20:32:07 (Appendix, Pg. 7)

Officer Oiler testified that Mr. Howard was never mirandized (Appendix, Pg. 73, 95 129, 161, 170). Officer Oiler testified that he believed Mr. Howard as a possible threat and asked him to exit the vehicle. (Appendix, Pg. 137). Officer Oiler further testified, although he perceived Mr. Howard as a threat, and was the only officer present at the time, that he was not the individual that patted Mr. Howard down rather Officer Wilson was. (Appendix, Pg. 125 and 160). Officer Oiler testified that he observed an exchange between Officer Wilson and Mr. Howard regarding his stance (Appendix, Pg. 159). Officer Oiler also stated that he saw Officer Wilson pat down Mr. Howard (Appendix, Pg. 161).

Officer Wilson did not immediately recognize the item as a weapon or contraband and instead asked Mr. Howard to remove the item from his pants for inspection. This request was made without the benefit of Miranda warnings. Those drugs were later used as the evidence to support the criminal complaints.

Officer Oiler claims Mr. Howard was under arrest at the time of the search of his person but a phone call to 911 dispatch at 19:14:10 clearly shows Officer Oiler did not believe the Wyoming County warrant was sufficient to arrest Mr. Howard. (Appendix, Pg. 264-268) Therefore, the search of Mr. Howard was not incident to a lawful arrest but rather a Terry pat down which was extended beyond the legal limits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- The court clearly erred factually when it ruled Mr. Howard was officially under arrest when he was searched. The Officer testified he immediately arrested Mr. Howard when notified of the Wyoming County warrant, however a call to Putnam County dispatch confirms Mr. Howard was still not under official arrest more than 25 minutes later.
- 2. The Terry pat down conducted by Officer Wilson on Mr. Howard was subject to the requirements of Minnesota v. Dickerson and Officer Wilson did not immediately recognize the object removed from Mr. Howard's person as contraband before requesting its removal. Officer Oiler testified, at the suppression hearing, Officer Wilson patted down Mr. Howard almost immediately upon his arrival. Officer Wilson detected something on Mr. Howard's person that was not of the human body but, he did not immediately recognize it as contraband. Telling Mr. Howard to remove it when he was not under arrest amounted to a warrantless search without probable cause.
- 3. Even though Mr. Howard was not free to leave and, thus, "under arrest" for purposes of West Virginia law, he was never given Miranda warnings. When Officer Wilson and Officer Oiler asked Mr. Howard to remove the item from his pants, he was never given notice of his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination before that request was made. That was clearly a question designed to incriminate Mr. Howard because the evidence taken was the sole basis for the criminal charges at bar

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument under Rule 19 applies because errors in settled law and claims of unsustainable exercise of discretion exist when law governing that discretion is settled.

TIMELINE

1.	18:51:06	Traffic Stop Effected	(Appendix, Pg. 6)
2.	18:51:48	Vehicle Registration Query	(Appendix, Pg. 13)
3.	18:53:51	West Virginia Driver's History Requested	(Appendix, Pg. 15)
4.	18:57:18	Report of Wyoming County Capias	(911 CD, Clip 9)
5.	18:57:26	Officer Bumgardner Arrives on Scene	(Appendix, Pg. 2)
6.	19:01:00	Officer Wilson Arrives on Scene	(Appendix, Pg. 147)
7.	19:14:10	Call initiated to Dispatch Questioning the A on the Capias	bility to Arrest Mr. Howard (911 Cd, Clip 10)
8.	19:16:04	Virginia Driver's History Requested	(Appendix, Pg. 19)
9.	19:41:01	Query Regarding Firearm	(Appendix, Pg. 21)
10	. 20:32:07	Officially recorded as under arrest	(Appendix, Pg. 7)

ARGUMENT POINT ONE

THE LOWER COURT CLEARLY ERRED FACTUALLY WHEN IT RULED MR. HOWARD WAS UNDER ARREST AT THE TIME OF SEARCH OF HIS PERSON BECAUSE A 911 CALL BY OFFICER OILER INDICATES MR. HOWARD WAS NOT PLACED UNDER OFFICIAL ARREST UNTIL A MINIMUM OF 25 MINUTES AFTER THE TRAFFIC STOP AND 15 MINUTES AFTER THE PAT DOWN WAS CONDUCTED.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a ruling on a Motion to Suppress, an appellate court should construe all facts in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing party below. Because of the highly facts-specific nature of the Motion to Suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the Circuit Court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear the testimony on the issues. Therefore, the Circuit Courts factual findings are reviewed for clear error." Syllabus Point 1, State v Lacy, 196 W.Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996). It should be noted the Court issuing the order denying the motion to suppress did not conduct the suppression. Rather, the State and the defendant agreed to use the transcript from the suppression hearing held in the prior case.

ARGUMENT

The court clearly erred because in four separate times testifying under oath, and in the criminal complaint, Officer Oiler stated his knowledge of the Wyoming Co. warrant for Mr. Howard, his subsequent decision to arrest Howard on said warrant, and his knowledge of a suspended driver's license all occurred within the first few minutes of approaching Mr. Howard's vehicle. (See Appendix Pg. 35, 95 and 124). Officer Oiler was told of the Wyoming Co. warrant at 18:57:18. However, the Officer had not requested the Virginia Driver's license query until 19:16:04 and still had not decided to arrest Mr. Howard until the end of the call initiated at 19:14:10, at minimum. These misrepresentations under oath occurred in both grand jury presentations, the preliminary hearing and, at the suppression hearing.

On the 911 CD, Clip 10, timed stamped at 19:14:10, on July 27, 2021, a two-minute and forty-seven second conversation takes place between Officer Oiler and the Dispatcher, Kim

Hunt, which completely contradicts the Officer's testimony of immediately arresting Mr. Howard for the Wyoming County warrant and the findings in the Final Order. (Appendix, Pg. 264-268) This conversation confirms Mr. Howard was still not under arrest twenty-five minutes after the traffic stop and, possibly much longer after that because he is not officially marked at under arrest until 20:32:07 (Appendix, Pg. 7).

Oiler: *Hey, um, Bumgardner and Wilson don't think we can do it correctly so that warrant is still out there. Ok?*

Dispatch: *They don't think we can do it? intelligible*

Oiler: *I* guess they think we are dumb or something.

Dispatch: We are going to fight. I mean I have a capias here and any other time those are printed, they are taken to jail for it. And, if it's wrong, it's on the county who didn't take it out.

Oiler: Yeah

Dispatch: It's Wyoming County.

Oiler: *It's for Roderick Levi?*

Dispatch: Roderick Levi Howard, yes.

Oiler: *He's saying he's on parole and shit.*

Dispatch: It should be fine. If not, it's not your fault.

Oiler: *Yeah, exactly.*

Dispatch: Do you need a triple I for him or is it just this?

Oiler: Can you run his Virginia driver's license? And see if it uh is, see what the status is on him.

Dispatch: yes, I can. It's right here.

Oiler: *I found one for him.*

Dispatch: It is Bravo 69832313

Oiler: *Yeah. We just gotta see if it's revoked DUI or something.*

Dispatch: It says driver's license status is not licensed. Five-point balance. Restrictions from work. It doesn't say why. It just says previous driving under suspension revocation. Of course, It's just not giving me any reasons.

Oiler: *Ok. Alright. Cool deal. That's fine. We are probably gonna be 1015 with him. Just wait there to officially put it, just to make sure that's what they want to do.*

This exchange demonstrates Officer Oiler did not believe he had probable cause to arrest Mr. Howard until he confirmed procedure with the 911 Dispatcher more than fifteen minutes after Officer Wilson's pat down. It further shows Officer Oiler was not aware of any license suspension of any kind until he asked dispatch to run Mr. Howard's Virginia driver's license. That request was made more than twenty-five minutes after the initial stop, not immediately after. It was also after Officer Oiler had already received a valid West Virginia license from Mr. Howard. In fact, Officer Oiler's own words demonstrate he was still looking for a reason before officially arresting Mr. Howard when he said "*Yeah. We just gotta see if it's revoked DUI or something*." If Mr. Howard was already under arrest for the Wyoming County warrant, the Virginia driver's license information was unnecessary as probable cause.

If Mr. Howard was actually under arrest when Officer Wilson arrived, and placed in cuffs, as Officer Oiler claimed, it does not explain why the phone call with Ms. Lassiter continued for 30 minutes. Verizon phone records indicate the call Mr. Howard initiated to Ms. Lassiter lasted thirty-one minutes from 6:50 pm to 7:21 pm. (Appendix, Pg. 258-259) This directly coincides with the time the call Officer Oiler made to dispatch ending at 19:17:00.

The 19:14:10 call to dispatch clearly demonstrates Mr. Howard was not under arrest at the time the search of his person occurred. There is no other way of interpreting Officer Oiler's words. "Ok. Alright. Cool deal. That's fine. We are probably gonna be 1015 with him. Just wait there to officially put it, just to make sure that's what they want to do."

ARGUMENT POINT TWO.

MR. HOWARD WAS NOT UNDER ARREST DURING HIS PAT DOWN, THEREFORE, THE CONTRABAND MUST BE IMMEDIATELY APPARENT BEFORE OFFICERS MAY REMOVE IT FROM THE DETAINEE'S PERSON WITHOUT A WARRANT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law, in a suppression issue, are reviewed de novo. Syllabus Point 3, State v, Vance, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000).

ARGUMENT

Mr. Howard was legally stopped for traffic violations. When Officer Oiler conducted a record's check dispatch provided information Mr. Howard an outstanding warrant from Wyoming County, West Virginia. Officer Oiler claims this was the reason Mr. Howard was immediately arrested. This was also the basis given by the Court suggesting Mr. Howard was under arrest when he was asked to remove contraband from his person.

The lower court has Mr. Howard being searched at the end of the event in its order on suppression, not the beginning as testified by Officer Oiler at the suppression. However, the 911 CAD CD, Clip 10) clearly demonstrates Office Oiler did not believe he had sufficient legal

justification to arrest Mr. Howard when he claims he did. In a conversation with 911 dispatcher, Kimberly Hunt, Officer Oiler clearly questions whether he has sufficient justification for the arrest. (Appendix, Pg. 264-268) In fact, the 911 dispatcher, Kimberly Hunt, has to convince Officer Oiler that the outstanding warrant from Wyoming County is sufficient cause to arrest Mr. Howard stating "*It should be fine. If not, it's not your fault.*" Officer Oiler then responds '*[w]e are probably gonna be 1015 with him. Just wait there to officially put it, just to make sure that's what they want to do.*" (911 CAD CD, Clip 10). 1015 is police code for in custody. That means Mr. Howard was not officially in custody until more than 25 minutes after the traffic stop, not arrested immediately as Oiler claims.

That conversation with dispatch occurred nineteen (19) minutes after Officer Oiler claims he placed Mr. Howard under arrest for the Wyoming County warrant. If Officer Oiler was unsure he had probable cause to arrest Mr. Howard on the Wyoming County warrant seventeen (17) minutes after he claimed he did, Mr. Howard was not officially under arrest and in custody when the pat down yielding the contraband was conducted. Officer Oiler testified Officer Wilson patted Mr. Howard down almost immediately upon his arrival. (Appendix Pg. 1150-151) Officer Wilson arrived at 19:01:00 which is 10 minutes after the stop, 4 minutes after Dispatch advised of the Wyoming County warrant and, 13 minutes before Oiler called dispatch regarding the ability to arrest on the warrant. Therefore, it was not a search subsequent to a legal arrest. It was a Terry pat down subject to the requirements of Minnesota v. Dickerson regarding identification as contraband. Minnesota v. Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366 (1993) states the following:

"The police may seize nonthreatening contraband detected through the sense of touch during a protective patdown search of the sort permitted by *Terry*, so long as the search stays within the bounds marked by *Terry*. pp.372-377."

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