IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 24-88

SCA EFiled: Jun 27 2024 12:01PM EDT Transaction ID 73502287

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

RODERICK LEVI HOWARD,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Katie Franklin [WVSB No. 10,767] Assistant Attorney General State Capitol Complex Building 6, Suite 406 Charleston, WV 25305-0220 Email: Katherine.H.Franklin@wvago.gov Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

Assignments of Error
Statement of the Case
A. Proceedings on the First Indictment
B. Proceedings on the Second Indictment
Summary of the Argument
Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision11
Standard of Review11
Argument
I. The circuit court correctly found that the search of Petitioner was a lawful search incident to arrest
II. Even if Petitioner was not under arrest at the moment the pat down was performed, the search of his person was still lawful
III. Petitioner's right against self-incrimination did not mean that he could not be required to remove contraband from his person
Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<i>Abel v. United States</i> , 362 U.S. 217 (1960)14
Agnello v. United States, 269 U. S. 20 (1925)
<i>Carroll v. U.S.</i> , 267 U. S. 132 (1925)
<i>Chimel v. California</i> , 395 U.S. 752 (1969)15, 25
<i>Marano v. Holland</i> , 179 W. Va. 156, 366 S.E.2d 117 (1988)27
<i>Rhode Island v. Innis,</i> 446 U.S. 291 (1980)
State v. Basham, 159 W. Va. 404, 223 S.E.2d 53 (1976)27
<i>State v. Bradshaw,</i> 193 W. Va. 519, 457 S.E.2d 456 (1995)25, 27
State v. Farley, 238 W. Va. 596, 797 S.E.2d 573 (2017)26
State v. Fellers, 165 W. Va. 253, 267 S.E.2d 738 (1980)27
State v. Hlavacek, 185 W. Va. 371, 407 S.E.2d 375 (1991)22
State v. Julius, 185 W. Va. 422, 408 S.E.2d 1 (1991)15, 25, 27
State v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996)12, 19, 22, 24
State v. Matthew David S., 205 W. Va. 392, 518 S.E.2d 396 (1999)22

State v. Moore, 165 W. Va. 837, 272 S.E.2d 804 (198015, 23
State v. Mullins, 177 W. Va. 531, 355 S.E.2d 24 (1987)23
State v. Newcomb, 223 W. Va. 843, 679 S.E.2d 675 (2009)26
State v. Stuart, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994)12
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> , 392 U.S. 1 (1968)9, 13, 14, 20, 22
Ullom v. Miller, 227 W. Va. 1, 705 S.E.2d 111 (2010)24
United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218 (1973). App. 204-05
Statutes
West Virginia Code § 60A-4-157
West Virginia Code § 60A-4-401
West Virginia Code § 60A-4-4152
West Virginia Code § 61-7-72
West Virginia Code § 61-11-810
Other Authorities
United States Constitution Fourth Amendment12, 14, 27, 28
United States Constitution Fifth Amendment
United States Constitution Sixth Amendment
West Virginia Constitution Article III § 612
West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure Rule 10
West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure Rule 1811

INTRODUCTION¹

Petitioner Roderick Levi Howard is not entitled to the relief he seeks. The facts in this case are straightforward: During a traffic stop, Petitioner was arrested on an active warrant issued from another county. After the arrest, law enforcement performed a pat down search, and located an item in a sensitive area on Petitioner's body. To spare him embarrassment, Petitioner was given the opportunity to remove the contraband from his person, which he did. The recovered contraband consisted of approximately 9.5 ounces of Fentanyl. The law is equally straightforward: Upon review of the record, the circuit court correctly found that this was a lawful search incident to arrest, and denied Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence. Petitioner subsequently pled no contest to attempt to commit a felony, although he reserved his right to appeal. The evidence presented to the circuit court fully supports the ruling in favor of the legality of the search. Accordingly, Petitioner's conviction should be upheld.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In his brief, Petitioner sets forth three "points," which Respondent shall address as formal assignments of error:

- Point One: The lower court clearly erred factually when it ruled [Petitioner] was under arrest at the time of search of his person because a 911 call by Corporal Oiler indicates Mr. Howard was not placed under official arrest until a minimum of 25 minutes after the traffic stop and 15 minutes after the pat down was conducted.
- Point Two: [Petitioner] was not under arrest during his pat down, therefore, the contraband must be immediately apparent before officers may remove it from the detainee's person without a warrant.

¹ The West Virginia Office of the Attorney General would like to thank intern Stuart Roush, rising 2L at Yale Law School, for his research and writing assistance on Section II of this brief.

Point Three: Officers' request to [Petitioner] regarding removing the item from his pants was made while he was detained but without benefit of *Miranda* warnings and the item retrieved incriminated [Petitioner].

Pet'r's Br. 10, 14, 18.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **Proceedings on the First Indictment**

On March 15, 2022, the Grand Jury of Putnam County returned a two-count felony indictment against Petitioner: one count of possession of fentanyl in excess of five grams, in violation of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-415(b); and one count of possession of a firearm by prohibited felon, in violation of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7. App. 77-78.² The indictment was obtained upon the testimony of Corporal B. M. Oiler of the Hurricane Police Department. App. 65-76.

On or about May 11, 2022, Petitioner filed Defendant's Supplement to Motion to Suppress.³ App. 80-86. On September 22, 2022, a suppression hearing was held before the Honorable Phillip M. Stowers. App. 89-90, 117-189. The only witness to testify was Corporal Oiler, who was called by the State. App. 117-189.

Corporal Oiler testified that at approximately 7:00 p.m. on July 27, 2021, he was on I-64 as a part of his assignment with Hurricane's Criminal Interdiction Unit. App. 120. Corporal Oiler observed "a silver in color SUV traveling westbound" in the passing lane. App. 121. The vehicle was originally going slowly at "just a coast," but after Corporal Oiler pulled out behind it, the vehicle seemed to react "immediately," and "tried to ram his car between two other moving vehicles, making a last minute signal to get off the interstate." App. 121, 139. This maneuver

² All cites to the Appendix refer to Petitioner's Amended Appendix, filed on May 20, 2024.

³ It does not appear that the original motion to suppress was included by Petitioner in his appendix.

placed it at "less than one car length" behind the car in front of it, while the car behind "had to slam on their brakes to avoid an accident." App. 122. After conducting the "abrupt lane change," the vehicle exited at a rest stop area "without using a turn signal." App. 122-23. The car "quickly flew into a parking spot," but did not make any attempts to get out of the car. App. 139-40.

Corporal Oiler "pulled in behind [Petitioner] and initiated a traffic stop." App. 123. Corporal Oiler observed Petitioner "just s[i]tting in his vehicle," on a phone call which was coming through the car speakers. App. 123. Petitioner gave no indication that he had stopped to use the rest area facilities, but appeared to have pulled off the interstate in an attempt "to evade" the officer. App. 140. Petitioner was the driver and sole occupant of the vehicle. App. 123-24. Corporal Oiler approached, "informed him of [the] reason for [the] stop," and asked Petitioner for his driver's license and proof of insurance. App. 123, 164. Petitioner only provided the officer with his driver's license. App. 123, 164. At that point, Corporal Oiler ran Petitioner's driver's license through Putnam County Dispatch ("Dispatch"). App. 124. Petitioner advised that the vehicle, which had a California plate, was a rental car. App. 121, 133.

Initially, Corporal Oiler intended to write Petitioner a warning ticket. App. 133. Corporal Oiler testified that while "[a] warning citation details the location of where [he] was at when [he] stopped the vehicle, information about the person and the vehicle, [it is] not near as much as that on a written citation." App. 133-34. Corporal Oiler testified that he "always write[s] warning tickets for the most part." App. 134. Corporal Oiler further testified to his normal practice that "If [he] was writing a citation [he] would have taken [Petitioner's] license, ran it through Putnam County Dispatch, [and] made sure that he didn't have any active warrants or that he wasn't suspended or revoked for DUI," which is something he will "always check." App. 135, 155. "The reason being is [he has] to make sure that [he is] safe while doing it, and while [he is] writing a

citation that a person doesn't have a warrant and they don't pose a danger to [him]." App. 135. "Then after that [he] would have written [Petitioner] the citation." App. 135. Corporal Oiler testified that it could take more than ten minutes to write a warning ticket, and that in this case it would have taken longer because Petitioner did not have a copy of the rental agreement for the car or a copy of the registration for the vehicle. App. 154, 156-57, 165.

After informing Petitioner that he intended to write him a warning ticket—but before getting a response from Dispatch—Corporal Oiler asked Petitioner to exit the vehicle, but did not perform a pat down search at that time. App. 136, 164. Corporal Oiler testified that he did this to minimize any "threat," that would result from the driver remaining in the vehicle, and that he "get[s] every person [he] stop[s] out of the car on a traffic stop," for officer safety. App. 137, 160, 169-70.

Soon after the stop was performed, Corporal Oiler was joined by Corporal Wilson, his partner, and Officer Bumgardner, who was present "as an extra set of eyes." App. 124-25, 142-43. Corporal Oiler was uncertain on when either officer joined him, but indicated that it was not very long, initially saying, "Maybe 3 [minutes]" but agreeing with Petitioner's counsel that it could have been "6 to 9 minutes later." App. 150.

Shortly thereafter, Dispatch advised Corporal Oiler that Petitioner had an active arrest warrant issued by Wyoming County, West Virginia, on charges of fleeing from an officer and obstructing an officer. App. 124, 165-66. Dispatch further advised that Petitioner's driver's license was suspended. App. 124. Corporal Oiler testified that upon learning this information, he placed Petitioner under arrest, pursuant to the Wyoming County warrant. App. 124, 166. As a result of his arrest, Petitioner was in handcuffs at the time of the search. App. 125. Corporal Oiler testified that shortly after the arrest, a search was conducted, which is standard protocol "to ensure

that [arrestees] don't have any weapons on them and that there's nothing else deeply hidden in them or on them." App. 168. In this case, the search "incident to arrest" was performed by Corporal Wilson, although Corporal Oiler was close by and observed the same. App. 124-25. As Corporal Oiler testified, "After [officers] placed [Petitioner] in handcuffs, he definitely would have been patted down and sent to arrest." App. 159-61. Corporal Oiler was adamant throughout his testimony that Petitioner "was under arrest" at the time of the search. App. 163.

Corporal Oiler affirmed that prior to the search, Petitioner "was standing funny." App. 169. During the search of Petitioner, Corporal Oiler testified that Officer Wilson located something on Petitioner's person, and the officer temporarily removed the handcuffs to allow Petitioner "to retrieve it out of his own person." App. 162. Describing the sensitive location of the located drugs, Corporal Oiler advised that they gave Petitioner this option because the officers "preferred not to go in there with [their] own hands and grab [Petitioner's] male genitalia to retrieve the contraband." App. 163. Corporal Oiler affirmed that this was allowed to save Petitioner from embarrassment from having the officers touch his genitals. App. 169.

Corporal Oiler was not certain of the exact time of the arrest, but testified that it was contemporaneous to learning from Dispatch that Petitioner had an active arrest warrant. App. 151. Corporal Oiler testified that when he makes an arrest he will "[t]ypically" notify Dispatch, but did not testify that he did so in this case. App. 152. When questioned about why the Dispatch report—otherwise known as a "CAD sheet"— indicated that the arrest occurred one hour and forty minutes after the traffic stop was initiated, Corporal Oiler testified that "There would have not been a delay in actually physically effecting the arrest." App. 153. According to Corporal Oiler, "There could have been a delay in simply putting that radio traffic out, or [the officer] tried to put it out and it doesn't come across to Dispatch, or [] even delegating that to someone else and then forgetting to

do it." App. 153-54. Corporal Oiler could not "give a definitive answer" on what caused the delayed reporting to Dispatch, but testified, "All I know is that he wasn't placed under arrest an hour and 30 minutes later." App. 154.

During his interaction with Petitioner, Corporal Oiler "asked if there [were] an[y] weapons in the vehicle or any drugs or narcotics," and Petitioner initially denied either, but did "disclose that there would possibly be a little bit of weed in the car but nothing more." App. 126, 148, 167. Corporal Oiler testified that he also "detected odor of marijuana during the stop." App. 126. Corporal Oiler conducted a search of the vehicle, where he located a handgun, which Petitioner was prohibited from possessing. App. 127. Corporal Oiler testified that it "takes a long, long time if you search a vehicle very properly and thoroughly," and affirmed that he likely did not call in to Dispatch that Petitioner was formally under arrest prior to conducting the search of the vehicle. App. 167-68. Petitioner did not give consent to search the vehicle. App. 127. After finding the drugs on his person, officers attempted to make a "deal" with Petitioner.⁴ App. 163. Petitioner was not advised of his *Miranda* rights at any point during the traffic stop. App. 129, 161, 170.

At the conclusion of Corporal Oiler's testimony, the circuit court asked, "Does the CAD sheet show when Dispatch advised him verbally that there was a warrant?" App. 171. Through a discussion amongst the attorneys, it was determined that Petitioner's counsel had the CAD sheet and had a CD with "different clips" of the recorded conversations between Corporal Oiler and Dispatch, but the State did not have the CD. App. 171-75. At that point, the circuit court indicated that it would recess the hearing to allow Corporal Oiler to listen to the recordings "and see if he

⁴ The specifics of the deal are unclear. Corporal Oiler testified at the preliminary hearing that he "told [Petitioner] that [he] would be willing to work with him," but did not testify to what that would entail. App. 242. Corporal Oiler advised that any possibility of a "deal" was withdrawn when the officers found the gun in the car and determined that Petitioner "was not honest, truthful and forthcoming." App. 242-43.

could testify as to what that means." App. 176. The circuit court gave the parties discretion to determine whether it was "important" for the court to receive a copy of the CAD sheet, but stated that it did not want to listen to the recordings. App. 177-78.

Before the matter went to recess, the State advised that—based on Corporal Oiler's testimony—Petitioner was in custody when he was asked if there was any contraband in the vehicle, but had not been advised of his rights. App. 180. Therefore, the State determined that the search of the vehicle followed a violation of Petitioner's *Miranda* rights, and advised that it "voluntarily agree[d] not to put that into [its] case in chief because of that." App. 180.

After the recess, the State informed the circuit court that upon speaking with Petitioner's counsel it was determined that the charge for which Petitioner had been indicted in March 2022 a violation of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-15(b)—had been repealed by the State Legislature, effective June 2022. App. 182. Accordingly, the State moved to dismiss the indictment, but set forth that it intended to reindict "under the correct statute." App. 182-83. Without objection, the circuit court granted the State's motion to dismiss without prejudice. App. 89-90, 184-86. The circuit court did not inquire further as to the lingering questions it had, which necessitated the recess in the first place. App. 181-88. No exhibits were admitted into evidence during the course of the hearing. App. 117-89.

B. Proceedings on the Second Indictment

On November 14, 2022, the Grand Jury of Putnam County once more indicted Petitioner. App. 101-02. This time, the indictment contained a single count: possession with intent to deliver, to-wit: fentanyl, in violation of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-401(a). App. 101-02. Again, the indictment was obtained upon the testimony of Corporal Oiler. App. 91-100. This indictment, however, was assigned to the court of the Honorable Joseph K. Reeder. App. 199-200.

7

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